FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/30/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/27/2024 4:17 PM

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

Case #: 1035080

# OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division I Case No. 86630-3-I

ANNA G. BELL,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

CANDACE K. SCHUPP,

Defendant/Appelant.

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Date: September 27th 2024.

Anna G. Bell, Respondent pro se 4400 NE 399<sup>th</sup> St. La Center, WA 98629 Telephone (971) 322-7290 Email: abarsukova@gmail.com

## **II.

#### **III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Anna G. Bell pro se, a Plaintiff in the trial court and an Respondent in the Court of Appeals Division I ("the Court"), asks this Court to accept review of the Unpublished Opinion designated below. Bell prepared the motion herself, no other person or attorney assisted her in any way or provided legal advice. Bell asks this Court to hold her pro se pleadings to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by attorneys, *Haines vs Kerner* 404 U.S. 519, 520, 1971. Bell software only has font Times New Roman in 12 or 14, no serif font. Bell used size 14 pursuant RAP 18.17.

## IV. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Respondent Anna G. Bell ("Bell") petitions this Court to review the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals Division I in the matter of Anna G. Bell v. Candace K. Schupp, et al., No. 86630-3-I, filed on July 29, 2024, which affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded the decision of the Superior Court of the State of Washington In and For Clark County. Bell's motion for reconsideration was denied on August 29, 2024. A copy of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals Division I is attached as Appendix.

#### **V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**1.** Whether Bell's incontrovertible evidence which was the basis for granting adverse possession as a matter of law in a bench trial should be allowed to be controverted by Schupp's excluded evidence, which was unduly delayed, a hearsay and

means to waste time pursuant ER 403, ER 801(c) and RCW 4.44.080?

2. Whether the Court's Opinion is a conflicting one because it has already affirmed Bell's adverse possession on page 5 of the Opinion but then reversed and remanded it on later pages?

**3.** Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion vacating attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell is a significant question of law as it inadvertently causes Bell to violate Washington law WAC 388-76-10000 "Abandonment"?

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals erred in its opinion that (i) Bell's adverse possession claim on Bell's only driveway and shoulder disputed by the defendant/appellant Candace Schupp ("Schupp") should not have been granted based on Respondent Bell's Petition for Review - 9 incontrovertible evidence as a matter of law and (ii) the attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell should be vacated. In essence, the Court ruled that incontrovertible evidence should have been allowed to be controverted. Bell filed a motion for (i) the trial reconsideration arguing that court had incontrovertible evidence to use CR 50 in a bench trial, (ii) Schupp never controverted the same evidence when it was presented in the summary judgement and Schupp's unheard trial evidence was unduly delayed and meant to waste time, (iii) the trial court weighed all the evidence and testimonies including the summary judgement at the time it granted Bell's CR 50 motion and (iv) the attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell should not have been vacated. Bell's motion for reconsideration was denied without stating the reasons.

Bell and Schupp, immediate neighbors, share about 230 yards of common boundary which had an old wire-and-power-Respondent Bell's Petition for Review - 10 poles fence for thirty-one years, installed by Schupp's predecessor in 1991 and removed by Schupp in 2022. Bell installed a new cattle-wire-and-poles fence in 2022 on Bell's side of and parallel to the old fence with plans to have farm animals and to prevent them and her dogs from going to Schupp's property. Bell's only driveway and shoulder ran/runs right along the new fence, just as it ran along the old fence.

In 2022 Schupp served Bell with documents demanding Bell remove Bell's new fence. Schupp and agents dug up Bell's only driveway (approximately 200 yards) which was used since 1974 and drove stakes in the middle of it preventing Bell's and her disabled mother's ingress and egress. Bell's driveway and shoulder historically encroached on Schupp's property since 1974. Schupp and her predecessors never used or claimed Bell's driveway and shoulder for thirty-one years, since 1991.

Schupp never used or claimed Bell's driveway and shoulder for sixteen years, since 2006 when she acquired her property.

Bell's use of her only driveway and shoulder (shoulder's use for the construction and delivery wider trucks) was/is an everyday necessity. Bell and her late husband Michael Wade ("Wade") used and improved the driveway and shoulder for fifteen years, since 2009 when Wade acquired the property. Bell's elderly disabled mother who lives with Bell often needs ambulance services which use Bell's only driveway and shoulder. Bell filed a Complaint in 2022 to regain the essential use and ownership of her driveway and shoulder. The trial took place in August 2023.

The trial was not the first bench trial in this case; it was preceded by a summary judgement where Schupp presented eight testimonies by her witnesses. Bell prevailed on the prescriptive easement claim on her driveway in the summary respondent ben s return for review - 12 judgement; it was decided as a matter of law based on incontrovertible evidence. Schupp appealed the trial court's prescriptive easement decision. The Court affirmed that decision.

During the summary judgement several elements of Bell's adverse possession claim on her driveway and shoulder needed clarification thus the trial court set it for a bench trial. In the bench trial the trial court granted Bell's CR 50 motion based on incontrovertible evidence that Bell has met *all* adverse possession elements in Bell's case-in-chief. Schupp appealed. The Court reversed and remanded the trial court's decision on adverse possession but not on prescriptive easement and the attorney fees awarded to Bell were vacated.

The Court ruled that a directed verdict, also known as a matter of law or CR 50, should have been applied exactly in the same manner in a bench trial as in a jury trial and Schupp and Respondent ben s return for Review - 15

her witnesses should have been allowed to controvert Bell's incontrovertible evidence despite the fact that Schupp has never controverted the evidence which prompted Bell's CR 50 motion; that exact same evidence was presented in the summary judgement, but Schupp and her witnesses did not controvert it.

Bell petitions pro se because of the financial circumstances. Bell is unemployed, receives a small fixed monthly income and taking care of two dependents and their life-saving medications on the small income. Bell's litigation up to her motion for reconsideration pro se was paid by her extended family and a family friend for over two years which is no longer possible.

Bell respectfully disagrees with the Court of Appeals' Opinion reversing the trial court's ruling on incontrovertible evidence and because Schupp's did not controvert the same key evidence when presented with it in the summary judgement. Respondent bell 5 reution for Review - 14 Schupp claimed that she could controvert it only when she lost the trial making her evidence unduly delayed and meant to waste time, pursuant ER 403.

The Court's decision is in conflict with other Court' published and unpublished decisions, RAP 13.4 (b), GR and the Court's decision involves a significant 14.1(c), question of law, RAP 13.4 (b), as it would cause Bell inadvertently violate the law WAC 388-76-10000 "Abandonment" and cause abandonment of a vulnerable adult on the basis that Bell will not be able to return about \$47,000 of attorney fees and costs to Schupp and at the same time pay for very costly lifesaving medication for her dependent, Bell's mother, to whom Bell is a 24/7 caregiver and a 100% provider.

These conflicts and a question of law involved create a consideration for review, RAP 13.4 (b). This Court should accept the review to consider these conflicts, RAP 13.4 (b).

Bell asks this Court to reinstate the attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell and to award her attorney fees on appeal pursuant RCW 7.28.083(3), RCW 4.84.185 and RAP 18.1.

#### **VII. ARGUMENT**

1. Whether Bell's incontrovertible evidence which was the basis for granting adverse possession as a matter of law in a bench trial should be allowed to be controverted by Schupp's evidence, which was unduly delayed, a hearsay and meant to waste time pursuant ER 403, ER 801(c) and RCW 4.44.080?

The trial court was aware that it was granting Bell's CR 50 motion before Schupp presented her evidence in a bench trial. The trial court considered Bell's incontrovertible

evidence, Schupp's unduly delayed, a hearsay and meant to waste time evidence after the trial and court's discretion on all questions of law including the admissibility of testimony, the facts preliminary to such admission such as prior summary judgement and other rules of evidence, RCW 4.44.080.

Bell had to meet all criteria or elements of adverse possession in her case-in-chief as reviewed by the Court on page 8:

To acquire title to another's land under the doctrine of adverse possession, a person must "possess[] the property for at least 10 years in a manner that is '(1) open and notorious, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3) exclusive, and (4) hostile." *Gorman v. City of Woodinville*, 175 Wn.2d 68, 71, 283 P.3d 1082 (2012) (quoting *ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Bell*, 112 Wn.2d 754, 757, 774 P.2d 6 (1989)).

The trial court has concluded based on combined evidence and testimonies presented by both sides in the summary judgement and by Bell, Hayes and Temme in Bell's case-in-chief that Bell

and her predecessors have met all adverse possession requirements.

Once criteria have been met it cannot be un-met. For example, a child must be 4'8" tall to go on a certain ride at a state fair. If a child met the criterion for a ride that criterion could not be un-met. If Bell has met all the criteria of adverse possession, they could not be un-met by subsequent testimonies because they already have been met, which constituted preponderance of evidence making any further testimonies unnecessary. When the jury, in this case the trial court, has reached the conclusion on the matter it can deliver a verdict, in this case a decision as a matter of law CR 50 (a) and RCW 4.44.080. The CR 50 (a) (1) and (2) is specific in its wording "If, during a trial by jur[y]" and "A motion for judgment as a matter of law may be made at any time before submission of the case to the jury." which in a bench trial is a subject to RCW 4.44.080 beginning with "All questions of law [..]":

----r ----- --- --- --- --- --- ---

All questions of law including the admissibility of testimony, the facts preliminary to such admission, and the construction of statutes and other writings, and other rules of evidence, are to be decided by the court, and all discussions of law addressed to it.

The trial court would have denied Bell's CR 50 motion if Bell's evidence were controvertible. The trial court saw Bell's evidence as incontrovertible and so conclusive that there could be no other truth about the matter, and it would overpower any contrary evidence by Schupp and her witnesses. Bell's evidence left no doubt as to the conclusion reached by the trial court about Bell's prescriptive easement and adverse possession claims on her driveway and shoulder.

Bell's evidence could not be controverted because of its nature. The aerial images from different decades and photographic timeline going back many years showed that Bell's driveway was in the same location for decades, Hayes' old fence separating Bell's and Schupp's properties was in place for decades, Bell and Wade improved and rocked the driveway three times and maintained the driveway and shoulder year after year (Exhibits 4-11). Such evidence overpowers any contrary evidence and leaves no doubt as to a conclusion that Bell and Wade possessed their driveway and shoulder for at least 10 years in a manner that was (i) open and notorious, (ii) actual and uninterrupted, (iii) exclusive, and (iv) hostile. Bell's evidence was so extensive, comprehensive, detailed, in high resolution and well-organized that the trial court complemented Bell's former counsel on its organization at the closing of the trial. Bell's evidence was a story in pictures because she took/takes daily pictures and videos of her family's life including improving and maintenance of the property.

Schupp, on other hand, never maintained or improved the driveway and shoulder, never rocked the driveway, never used it for ingress or egress, going to a mailbox, walking dogs, parking cars or machinery. If Schupp or her witnesses would have testified in trial that Schupp occasionally maintained it, which she did not, it would not change Bell meeting all the adverse possession requirement. A claimant's possession need not be absolutely exclusive in order to satisfy the exclusivity condition of adverse possession, Crites v. Koch, 49 Wash. App. 171,174, 741 P.2d 1005 (1987). An "occasional, transitory use by the true owner usually will not prevent adverse possession if the uses the adverse possession permits are such as a true owner would permit a third person to do as a 'neighborly accommodation." 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK, Washington Practice Real Estate: Property Law 8.19 at 516 (1995). Therefore, Bell's adverse possession of her driveway and shoulder were incontrovertible.

Moreover, Schupp's appeal of Bell's prescriptive easement to Bell's only driveway was frivolous because prior to filing her appeal Schupp knew that Bell and her predecessors used it exclusively since 1974 and it was/is Bell's only driveway for ingress and egress, as the Court's Opinion stated

in affirming Bell's prescriptive easement on page 5:

In support of her summary judgment motion, Bell provided evidence, including aerial photographs and surveys, showing that on or before 1974, a driveway was constructed on the southeast corner of the Bell Property that progressed northerly to structures located on the property. The driveway is the only means of ingress and egress to and from the Bell Property

On page 7:

In sum, although Schupp disputes the precise boundary of the prescriptive easement, that is not a material dispute for purposes of Bell's claim and therefore does not preclude summary judgment in her favor.

And on page 13 in the footnotes:

Because we remand for a new trial, we express no opinion on whether Bell is entitled to recover attorney fees and costs under RCW 7.28.083(3) in connection with her prescriptive easement claim. See Clark County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Review Bd., 177 Wn.2d 136, 145-47, 298 P.3d 704 (2013)

Since Bell prevailed on the prescriptive easement in both courts and Schupp's appeal challenged it unnecessary and frivolously requesting that Bell and her elderly disabled mother would have no means of ingress and egress and knowing that the driveway was always in the same place in the aerial images since 1974, the attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell after the trial should be reinstated pursuant RCW 4.84.185 and RCW 7.28.083(3) and the appeal's attorney fees should be awarded to Bell pursuant to RAP 18.1.

The adverse possession claim on Bell's driveway and shoulder is inseparable from the prescriptive easement claim and they share exactly the same elements, with additional ones for prescriptive easement. The Court's Opinion is in conflict with its own published decision RAP 18.1 in regard to awarding attorney fees and costs to a prevailing party in a trial or appeal. RAP 18.1 is the Court's published decision because it was decided, published and applied in appeals. The Court's decision regarding vacating attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell and awarding no fees to Bell on appeal should be reversed.

The trial court has also concluded based on Bell key witness Mr. Norman Hayes' ("Hayes") identical testimonies (in the summary judgement and in the trial) that adverse possession of Bell's driveway and shoulder has been established in 1991-2001, prior to Bell's ownership of her property, when Mr. Hayes gifted the driveway and the shoulder to Mr. George Bourcier ("Bourcier"), Bell's predecessor. However, the Court concluded:

Given that the trial court "focused primarily on the testimony of Norman Hayes" in ruling in Bell's favor, Price's testimony undermining Hayes' testimony could have provided a "legally sufficient evidentiary basis" for a reasonable fact finder to have found for Schupp on some or all of the elements of Bell's adverse possession claim.

That conclusion overlooked the fact that the trial court weighed that Schupp, Price and other witnesses *never controverted Mr*.

Hayes' exact same testimony in the summary judgement

especially when they could not know whether the case would go

to trial and should have presented their evidence if they had it.

Indeed, Hayes declared in the summary judgement, page 2 line

11-14 and 22 (Exhibit 1):

[I] told George that as far as I was concerned, all that disputed property belonged to him because he was the person who has maintained it and used it all those years. About two years after that, in 1991 or so, I erected a fence on the part of the property that I thought was the true dividing line between our property and George's property. I used round power poles from Bonneville to erect the fence and I erected the same type of the fencing all around my property.[...] As far as I was concerned, all of the property west of the fence belonged to George Bourcie[r.]

Mr. Frederick A. Price ("Price"), Schupp's key witness and the perpetrator of Bell and Bell's young daughter (long-term protection order Bell v Price, Case No. 22-2-07844-06 Superior Court for Clark County WA) has never controverted these facts Respondent Bell's Petition for Review - 25 in the summary judgement in his declaration when he had an opportunity. Only when Schupp lost the trial Price unexpectedly declared that he would controvert Haves' testimonies. Price submitted a sworn declaration after the trial stating that Hayes (1) had never given or conveyed any portion of the Bell Property to Bourcier and (2) did not construct the fence separating the properties until "several years after" Bourcier's death in 1992. Price's testimony was hearsay because Price was not Hayes, who gifted his property and erected a fence cutting off that property from his own thus confirming his gift to Bourcier. Price's proposed evidence after the trial was unduly delayed, meant to waste time and was hearsay pursuant ER 403 and ER 801(c):

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed [...] by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence[e].

(c) Hearsay. "Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the Respondent Bell's Petition for Review - 26 trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

Therefore, the trial court was correct in recognizing Hayes, not Price, as "the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." and in stating that "there would be no testimony adverse to that" as quoted in the Court's Opinion on page 10:

Given that there would be no testimony to controvert Mr. Hayes' testimony during this tenyear period, the court does find that title vested in that 10-year time period from 1991 to 2001, and that title vested in Plaintiff's predecessors via adverse possession by 2001.The court found there would be no testimony adverse to that.

The Court' Opinion remanding and allowing Schupp's excluded evidence which was unduly delayed, meant to waste time and hearsay is in conflict with its published opinion where it upheld the exclusion of evidence pursuant ER 403 in the *State of Washington v. Donald*, Wash. App. Div I (2013). Therefore, Respondent Bell's Petition for Review - 27

Schupp's excluded evidence should not be allowed and The trials court's decision and the attorney fees and costs awarded to Bell should be reinstated pursuant to RAP 18.1.

2. Whether the Court's Opinion is a conflicting one because it has already affirmed Bell's adverse possession on page 5 of the Opinion but then reversed and remanded it on later pages?

While at a first glance it may not be obvious, but the Court's Opinion affirmed Bell's adverse possession at the same time as it was reversing and remanding it. It happened in the first paragraph on page 5 where the Court reviewed the evidence on which it affirmed Bell's prescriptive easement and

in doing so affirmed that Bell met the criteria for adverse possession as well:

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