FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/14/2024 1:49 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## **IN THE SUPREME COURT**

# OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 1035080

Court of Appeals No. 866303 – Division I

ANNA G. BELL,

Petitioner,

v.

CANDACE K. SCHUPP,

Respondent.

# **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Mark A. Erikson, WSBA #23106 Erikson & Associates, PLLC Attorney for Candace K. Schupp 110 West 13<sup>th</sup> Street Vancouver, WA 98660-2904 Telephone (360) 696-1012 E-mail: mark@eriksonlaw.com

# **

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

#### **II. ARGUMENT**

Defendant Schupp answers plaintiff Bell's issues as enumerated:

**PLAINTIFF'S ISSUE NO. 1:** The Rules of Appellate Procedure permit reconsideration by the Court of Appeals in limited situations:

The appellate court may at the instance of a party review the propriety of an earlier decision of the appellate court in the same case and, where justice would best be served, decide the case on the basis of the appellate court's opinion of the law at the time of the later review.

RAP 2.5(c)(2). This Court has noted that the foregoing rule

"codified at least two historically recognized exceptions to the

law of the case doctrine:"

First, the appellate court may reconsider a prior decision in the same case where that decision is "clearly erroneous, ... the erroneous decision would work a manifest injustice to one party," and no corresponding injustice would result to the other party if the erroneous holding were set aside. ...

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

Second, the language allowing consideration of the law at the time of the later review allows a prior appellate holding in the same case to be reconsidered where there has been an intervening change in the law.

State v. Schwab, 163 Wash.2d 664, 672-73, 185 P.3d 1151

(2008). In the present case, the Court of Appeals provided ample

support for reversal of the trial court's entry of judgment as a

matter of law; hence, its decision was not clearly erroneous:

Washington courts repeatedly recognized that a litigant must be afforded an opportunity to dispute controverted issues before the trial court grants a CR 50 motion. See e.g. Butson v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 189 Wn.App. 288, 297, 354 P.3d 924 (2015) ("A CR 50 motion is properly granted after the nonmoving party presents its case and before the moving party presents its case."); Smith v. Fourre, 71 Wn.App. 304, 306, 858 P.2d 276 (1993) (error to grant defendant's motion to dismiss before plaintiff had completed presenting her case because "[a] fundamental principle of law is that every litigant is entitled to be heard before his or her case is dismissed"); State v. Reader's Digest Ass'n, Inc., 81 Wn.2d 259, 265, 501 P.2d 290 (1972) ("[A] plaintiff's motion to dismiss, made at the end of his own case, . . . should not be granted . . . if the defendant elects to proceed with the case.")

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

*Bell*, 86630-3-I, 2024 WL 3565958 at 5. The trial court's decision worked a manifest injustice upon defendant Schupp, not plaintiff Bell, because defendant Schupp was denied the opportunity to be heard at trial. Reversing the appellate decision would work the same manifest injustice upon defendant Schupp.

The majority of plaintiff Bell's argument addresses *not* the period upon which trial court decision was based, 1991 to 2001, but the period after Bell acquired her interest on December 31, 2018, and after her husband, Michael Wade, acquired the property on October 19, 2009. As to the elements of adverse possession, plaintiff Bell argues for the incontrovertibility of her evidence regarding her and her husband's use of the disputed parcel by between 2009 and present. *Petition at 12*. Of course, the trial court's entry of judgment as a matter of law at the close of plaintiff's case prevented defendant Schupp from proffering evidence of any period. Nonetheless, the trial court granted

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

judgment *only* as to the ten-year period of 1991 to 2001, from which we may infer that evidence of periods thereafter was insufficient to carry plaintiff's burden. *CP 263:18-20*.

Plaintiff Bell mistakenly argues that "[t]he trial was not the first bench trial in this case; it was preceded by a summary judgment where Schupp presented eight testimonies by her witnesses." *Petition at 12*. Obviously, the summary judgment hearing was not a trial and, while summary judgment may be reconsidered, it is no substitute for actual testimony at trial.

Plaintiff Bell's misunderstanding of summary judgment also motivates her argument that defendant "Schupp never controverted [Norman Hayes] evidence when it was presented in the summary judgment[,] and Schupp's unheard trial evidence was unduly delayed and meant to waste time." *Petition at 10*. Plaintiff Bell fails to cite clerk's papers containing evidence allegedly proffered at the summary judgment hearing; and she

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 8

fails to address declarations of Frederick Price, Rhonda Huss and Frederick Hayes filed in support of defendant Shupp's motion for reconsideration. *CP 175*; *CP 273*; *CP 270*, *infra*.

Plaintiff Bell appears to argue that RCW 4.44.080 renders trial court judges infallible as to questions of law. *Petition at 16-21.* However, RCW 4.44.080 does not prevent erroneous decisions which must be reviewed on appeal.

Plaintiff Bell argues "[i]f Schupp or her witnesses would have testified in trial that Schupp occasionally maintained [the disputed tract], . . . it would not change Bell meeting all the adverse possession requirement[s]." *Petition at 20-21*. While it is true that "occasional, transitory use . . . will not prevent adverse possession," Washington law holds that:

"Adverse possession must be as exclusive as one would expect of a titled property owner under the circumstances." "[T]he exclusivity element means that an adverse possessor may not share possession of the area claimed with the true owner . . ."

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

*Michel v. Seattle*, 19 Wash.App.2d 783, 790, 498 P.3d 522 (2021), *review denied*, 199 Wash.2d 1012, 508 P.3d 671 (2022). Defendant Schupp is the true owner of the disputed tract.

The foregoing authority also renders fallacious plaintiff Bell's argument, that "[t]he adverse possession claim on Bell's driveway and shoulder is inseparable from the prescriptive easement claim and they share exactly the same elements." *Petition at 23*. To the contrary, prescription need not be exclusive. *Curtis v. Zuck*, 65 Wash.App. 377, 384, 829 P.2d 187 (1992).

Plaintiff Bell argues that Norman Hayes' testimony was never controverted, even though the trial record includes the following attestations, filed in support of reconsideration:

I, Frederick Price, declare that the statements contained herein are based upon personal knowledge of matters regarding which I am competent to testify.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

1. I am the owner of Lot 2 of Short Plat 3-679, which is located immediately west of, and contiguous with, Assessor's Parcel No. 253299-000, owned by Anna Bell....

4. I worked as an EMT, and George Bourcier [predecessor to Bell] died in my arms in April 1992. His wife Mary predeceased him in 1990. Norman Hayes did not construct the "old hog-wire fence" shown on the plat and surveys until several years after George Bourcier's death.

5. I was available to testify in the landing of the third floor of Clark County Courthouse on August 1, 2023, from 8:45 a.m. until the parties left the courtroom of Judge Emily Sheldrick, and informed me that the court had granted a directed verdict for plaintiff Bell, and my testimony would not be received.

*CP 175:1-176:11*, filed August 4, 2023.

\* \* \*

I, Rhonda Huss, declare that the statements contained herein are based upon personal knowledge of matters regarding which I am competent to testify.

1. During the years 1990 through 1993, I baby-sat for Norman Hayes at the residence now owned by Candace Shupp. There was no fence

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11

separating the Schupp property from the property now owned by Anna Bell at any time during those years.

*CP 273:14-19*, filed September 1, 2023.

\* \* \*

I, Frederick Hayes, declare that the statements contained herein are based upon personal knowledge of matters regarding which I am competent to testify.

1. I am Norm Hayes nephew, and I assisted him with projects on his property located at 4404 NE 399<sup>th</sup> Street, La Center, Washington, now owned Candace Schupp.

2. We erected the fence between what are now the Schupp and Bell properties after the year 2000.

CP 270:14-20, filed September 1, 2023. The Order on Motion for

Reconsideration was entered October 5, 2023. CP 316.

Plaintiff Bell argues that "Price's testimony was hearsay because Price was not Hayes." *Petition at 26.* "Hearsay" is defined as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12

prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Attestations quoted above are in-court statements made by the declarants, attesting at hearing on defendant Schupp's motion to reconsider. Statements that George Bourcier died in Frederick Price's arms in April 1992, and that Norman Hayes did not construct the "old hog-wire fence" shown on the plat and surveys until several years after George Bourcier's death, are statements of observed facts; as are statements that there was no fence between the properties during the years 1990 through 1993, and that Frederick and Norman Hayes built the fence after the year 2000.

In any event, the Civil Rules clearly define exemptions to the hearsay rule:

Specific Exceptions. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness: . . .

(20) Reputation Concerning Boundaries or General History. Reputation in a community, arising before the controversy, as to boundaries of or customs affecting lands in the community, and

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13

reputation as to events of general history important to the community or state or nation in which located.

ER 803(a). We can imagine no situation in which the abovequoted statements would constitute hearsay.

Plaintiff Bell cites *State of Washington v. Donald* in support of her argument for exclusion of defendant Schupp's evidence under ER 403 (presumably, Declarations of Frederick Price, Rhonda Huff and Frederick Hayes), as follows:

The Court' Opinion remanding and allowing Schupp's excluded evidence which was unduly delayed, meant to waste time and hearsay is in conflict with its published opinion where it upheld the exclusion of evidence pursuant [to] ER 403 in *State of Washington v. Donald*, Wash. App. Div I (2013)."

*Petition at 27.* As an initial observation, we object to plaintiff Bell's failure to follow citation format; however, out of an abundance of caution, we located a solitary 2013 decision of Division 1 titled *State of Washington v. Donald*, which held as follows, construing ER 404(b), not ER 403:

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14

Because ER 404(b) is neither arbitrary nor unreasonably related or disproportionate to the ends it is designed to serve, we reject Donald's constitutional challenge to it. We reject his proposed construction of ER 404(b), which would exclude its application to evidence offered by a defendant. Further, the court did not abuse its discretion by excluding evidence of an alternative suspect's mental health history and criminal history, and Donald failed to preserve his alleged instructional error for review. Therefore, we affirm.

State v. Donald, 178 Wash.App. 250, 271-72, 316 P.3d 1081

(2013). Defendant Schupp did not rely upon "evidence of other

crimes, . . . or acts," the sole issue addressed under ER 404(b).

Civil Rules provide for entry of summary judgment as

follows:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

CR 56(c). Defendant Schupp provided argument, CP 87-95; that

was sufficient to deny judgment on adverse possession. CP 110.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 15

Moreover, litigants are not limited at trial to evidence that was, or could have been, filed in response to summary judgment. In faulting defendant Schupp for not filing the Declarations of Price, Huff and Frederick Hayes on summary judgment, plaintiff Bell appears to violate the rule articulated by Division 1 that:

A summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed and must be resolved by the factfinder.

Kaplan v. Nothwest Mutual Life, 115 Wash.App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16 (2003).

\* \* \*

**PLAINTIFF'S ISSUE NO. 2:** Plaintiff Bell argues that "the Court's Opinion ... affirmed Bell's adverse possession at the same time it was reversing and remanding ... in the first paragraph on page 5." *Petition at 29*. We do not know where plaintiff is obtaining published opinions; however, a computer search found her quote from the Petition in the last paragraph on page 2:

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 16

**Bell averred** that after her late husband, Michael Wade, acquired title to the Bell Property in 2009, he consistently maintained both (a) the entire gravel driveway by rocking it, plowing snow, and driving vehicles over it and (b) the area between the driveway and the fence by mowing grass, spraying grass killer, removing weeds, and trimming bushes. Bell maintained the driveway and shoulder in a similar manner beginning in 2013 and continued to do so after Wade's death in 2020. This evidence, **Bell argued**, established that the use of the easement occurred over a uniform route.

*Bell*, No. 86630-3-I, 2024 WL 3565958, at \*2 (2024), emphasis added. As the above emphasis clearly demonstrates, the foregoing does not constitute findings or conclusions of the Court, but averments and arguments of plaintiff Bell.

Contrary to plaintiff Bell's argument, the Court did <u>not</u> find that Bell and Wade's maintenance of the gravel driveway and the area between the fence and driveway "was more than enough to establish adverse possession." *Petition at 29-30*. The Court actually found:

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 17

The court subsequently issued a written order stating that "[Bell's] Motion for Summary Judgment is granted as to prescriptive easement" and "[a] legal description of the easement shall be determined by survey to be done at a later date."

On this record, the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in Bell's favor on her prescriptive easement claim regarding the portion of the driveway that encroaches on Schupp's property.

*Bell*, No. 86630-3-I, 2024 WL 3565958, at \*3 (2024).

\* \* \*

PLAINTIFF'S ISSUE NO. 3: Plaintiff Bell argues that the

Court of Appeals vacation of an award of attorney fees causes her

to violate WAC 388-76-10000, Petition at 31; which regulates

"Adult Family Homes," defined as follows:

"Adult family home" or "AFH" means:

(1) A residential home in which a person or an entity is licensed to provide personal care, special care, room, and board to more than one but not more than six adults who are not related by blood, adoption, or marriage to a provider, entity representative, resident manager, or caregiver, who resides in the home. An adult family home may

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 18

be licensed to provide care to up to eight adults if the home receives approval under WAC 388-76-10031 or 388-76-10032.

(2) As used in this chapter, the term "entity" includes corporations, partnerships, and limited liability companies, and the term "adult family home" includes the person or entity that is licensed to operate an adult family home.

WAC 388-76-10000, emphasis added. Chapter 388-76 WAC

further specifies the licensing requirement as follows:

License – Required.

(1) Any person or entity must have a license by the department to operate an adult family home.

(2) No person or entity may provide personal care, special care, and room and board for more than one resident without a license.

WAC 388-76-10005. As plaintiff Bell freely admits in her

Petition that she is related to persons receiving her care:

Bell is unemployed and has a small fixed monthly income on which she takes care of her two dependents – her young daughter who is home[-] schooled due to her needs[,] and her 81-year-old mother who is disabled and lives with Bell.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 19

*Petition at 32.* Plaintiff Bell does not produce a license that would allow her to operate an Adult Family Home; but even if she did, her mother and daughter, "related by blood, adoption, or marriage," would not qualify as "residents:"

"Resident" means any adult living in the adult family home and who is unrelated to the provider and who receives personal or special care from the adult family home.

WAC 388-76-10000. There is simply no possible circumstance under which plaintiff Bell could violate Chapter 388-76 WAC by abandoning care of her mother and child.

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